IPCC-18

2 Earth Negotlatlons Bulletin'<@

l__ [ I ]

A Reportl ng Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotl ations

Onlineat http://www.iisd.ca/climate/ipccl8/

Vol.12 No. 177 Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development Tuesday, 2 October 2001

SUMMARY OF THE EIGHTEENTH SESSION OF requested by the 7th Conference of the Parties (COP-7) tothe UN
THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL PANEL ON Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).
CLIMATE CHANGE: 24-29 SEPTEMBER 2001 Thefinalization of the Synthesis Report completed nearly five
The eighteenth session of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate ~ Y8'S of work pn the TAR. Theissue of hpw governmentsyvi Il respond
Change (IPCC-18) was held from 24-29 September 2001, in London,  t© the Synthesis Report and make use of itsanswersto policy-relevant
UK. Approximately 280 delegates, experts and representatives of guestionsremai ns_to beseen. Their first opporf[unlty torespond will be
international and non-governmental organizations attended the COP-7, where anin-depth debate on the TAR is scheduled to teke
session. place.
The session focused on approving/adopting the Synthesis Report The next sessi on of the [PCC will take placein April 2002, at a
of the IPCC’s Third Assessment Report (TAR). The SynthesisReport, Venue to bedetermined.
which consists of asummary for policy-makers (SPM) and an under- A BRIEE HISTORY OF THE IPCC
lying longer part, integrates the information contained within the TAR
and drawson al previously approved and accepted | PCC reportsto
address nine policy-relevant questionsidentified by the |PCC, based
on submissions by governments. It isthefirst such report prepared by
the | PCC.
Participants met in Plenary throughout the six-day session,
convening contact groups to address contentious i ssues. Throughout
theweek, they approved the SPM using aline-by-line approach and

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change was established
in 1988 by the World M eteorol ogical Organization (WMO) and the
United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). The purpose of the
IPCCisto assessthe scientific, technical and socioeconomic informa
tion relevant to understanding the risks associated with human-
induced climate change. The IPCC does not undertake new research,
nor doesit monitor climate-rel ated data, but basesits assessments on

adopted the underlying longer part paragraph-by-paragraph during

thefinal two days. The approval/adoption of the Synthesis Report was INTHISISSUE

completed on Saturday, 29 September. In addition, delegatestook a A Brief History of thelPCC. .. .......... ... oo, 1
number of management decisions, including to: )

* retainthe current three working groups, maintain the Task Force Repogg;?ﬁgMpﬁ;%, """"""""""""""""" g
on Inventories, and keep thesize of the IPCC Bureau at 30 Approval/Adoption of the Draft SynthesisReport. . . . . 3
members; Futureof thelPCC.............cvveieennnn ... 7

« adopt the IPCC work programme and budget for 2002-2004; Preparatory Work on Land Use, Land-Use Change

* endorseascoping paper for the Technical Paper on Climate andForestry. . ... 8
Changeand Biological Diversity and endorsein principlethe Preparation of aTechnical Paper on Climate Change
preparation of atechnical paper on climate changeand and Biol pgi ca Diver§i ty .o e 9
sustainable devel opment; Preparation of aSpecia Report on Climate Change

. : and Sustainable Development . ... ................ 9

* accept awork programme on Good Practice Guidance on Land OtherIssues. . .....ov vt 9
Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry and authorize further work ClosingPlenary . ..., 10
on devel oping definitionsfor degradation and devegetation; and

« authorizethe preparation of scoping papersfor any work ThingstoLook For ............ccoviiieiinnennn.. 10

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Joanna Depledge <joanna@iisd.org> and Dagmar Lohan <dagmar@iisd.org>. The
Operations Manager is Marcela Rojo <marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line Assistant is Diego Noguera <diego@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D.
<pam@iisd.org> and the Assistant Editor is Lisa Schipper <lisa@iisd.org>. The Director of 11SD Reporting ServicesisLangston James"Kimo" GoreeV| <kimo@iisd.org>. The
Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss
Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development -DfID, and the Foreign &
Commonwealth Office), the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry
of Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of Devel opment Cooperation - BMZ). Genera Support for the Bulletin during 2001 is provided by the Ministries of
Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign
Affairsand Trade of New Zealand, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, Swan International, and the Japan Environment Agency (through the Institute
for Global Environmental Strategies — IGES). The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be
contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada.The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations
Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial
publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Director of 11SD Reporting Services.
Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. The satelliteimage was taken above
Bonn ©2001 The Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin or to arrange coverage of ameeting, conference or workshop, send
e-mail to the Director, |1SD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>.




Tuesday, 2 October 2001

Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 2

published and peer reviewed scientific and technical literature. Its
Secretariat islocated in Genevaand is staffed by both WMO and
UNEP.

Sinceitsinception, the IPCC has prepared a series of comprehen-
sive assessments, special reports and technical papers, providing
scientific information on climate change to the international commu-
nity, including policy-makers and the general public. Thisinformation
has played an important rolein the negotiations under the UNFCCC.
The UNFCCC, which providesthe overall policy framework for
addressing climate change, was adopted in 1992 and entered into force
in1994.

The current structure of the IPCC includes three working groups
and a Task Force on National Greenhouse Gas Inventories:

» Working Group | addressesthe scientific aspects of the climate
system and climate change.

» Working Group |1 addressesthe scientific, technical, environ-
mental, economic and social aspectsof the vulnerahility (sensi-
tivity and adaptability) to climate change, and the negative and
positive consequences (impacts) for ecological systems, socioeco-
nomic sectorsand human health, with an emphasison regional
sectoral and cross-sectoral issues.

« Working Group 11 assessesthe scientific, technical, environ-
mental, economic and social aspectsof the mitigation of climate
change, aswell asthe methodol ogi cal aspectsof cross-cutting
issues.

The current Bureau of the IPCC was established in 1997. It has 30
membersrepresenting al six WMO regions (Africa, Asia, South
America, North and Central America, South-West Pacific, Europe).

KEY IPCC REPORTS: ThelPCC completed itsfirst comprehen-
sive assessment of climate change compiled in the First Assessment
Report (FAR) in 1990 and the Second Assessment Report (SAR) in
1995. In 1994 it prepared technical guidelinesfor assessing green-
house gasinventories and subsequently revised thesein 1996. The
Kyoto Protocol in 1997 reaffirmed the use of the Revised IPCC Guide-
linesfor preparing national greenhouse gasinventories by Partiesto
the UNFCCC and, in the future, by Partiesto the Protocol.

ThePCC also prepares special reportsand technical paperson
topics where independent scientific information and adviceis deemed
necessary. It prepared, for example, a Special Report on Land Use,
Land-Use Change and Forestry (LULUCEF) in 2000, at the request of
the UNFCCC.

THIRD ASSESSMENT REPORT: The TAR addresses policy-
relevant scientific, technical, and socioeconomic dimensions of
climate change. It concentrates on findings since 1995 and pays atten-
tion to both regional and global scales, including non-English litera-
tureto the extent possible. The preparation of the TAR wasguided by a
decision paper adopted by the Panel in 1997 at itsthirteenth session.
The preparation of the TAR was al so guided by papers on cross-cutting
issues, such as equity, uncertainties and costing methodol ogies,
published as | PCC supporting material to ensure acoordinated
approach to these issueswithin all working groups.

The TAR iscomposed of acomprehensive assessment from the
three IPCC working groups, an SPM and technical summary of each
working group report, and a Synthesis Report. The comprehensive

assessments, Synthesis Report and SPM s have been subject to exten-
sive peer review from experts and governments. The Synthesis Report
iswrittenin anon-technical styleaimed at policy-makersandis
composed of an underlying longer part and an SPM. It addresses nine
policy-relevant questionsidentified by the IPCC based on submissions
by governments.

Working Group | Contributiontothe TAR: Working Group |
met from 17-20 January 2001, in Shanghai, China, to finalize and
adopt its part of the TAR. One hundred and fifty delegatesfrom 100
countries adopted the report, " Climate Change 2001: The Scientific
Basis," aswell asthe summary for policy-makers. Thereport, whichis
based on work by 123 authors and more than 500 contributors,
assessesthe current state of understanding of the climate system and
provides estimates of its projected future evol ution. It notesthat "an
increasing body of observation givesa collective picture of awarming
world" and that the climateis changing morerapidly than predictedin
the SAR.

Working Group |1 Contribution tothe TAR: Working Group 11
met from 13-16 February 2001, in Geneva, Switzerland, to finalizeand
adopt its part of the TAR. More than 160 delegates from 100 countries
approved the report, " Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation and
Vulnerability," aswell asthe summary for policy-makers. Thefull
report was completed by more than 400 authors and contributors,
assessing scientific literature rel ated to the impacts of, and vulnera-
bility to, climate change. The report suggests projected climate
changes over the next century could potentially lead to future large-
scale and possibly irreversible changes. Focusing on avariety of
issues, thereport considersthe effects of climate change on water
resources, terrestrial ecosystems and human health. It also addresses
regional concerns, vulnerabilities and adaptive capacities.

Working Group 111 Contribution tothe TAR: Working Group
I11 metin Accra, Ghana, from 28 February — 3 March 2001, to finalize
and adopt its part of the TAR. More than 140 delegates from 85 coun-
tries approved thereport, " Climate Change 2001: Mitigation," aswell
asthe summary for policy-makers. Thereport was prepared by nearly
400 authors and contributors. It assesses optionsfor cutting green-
house gas emissions by reviewing: technologies availablefor control-
ling emissions; stepsthat can betaken in theindustry and energy
sectorsto promote atransition to acleaner energy future; contributions
through carbon sequestration by forestry and agriculture; policiesfor
achieving cost-effective and "no-regrets’ emissions reductions; and
waysto overcome political, cultural and institutional barriersto miti-
gation.

SEVENTEENTH SESSION OF THE IPCC: AtIPCC-17, held
from 4-6 April 2001, at UNEP Headquartersin Nairobi, Kenya, partic-
i pants accepted the actions of the three IPCC Working Groups with
regard to adopting the three sections of the TAR. They considered
progress on the Synthesis Report, and discussed in depth the future of
the IPCC. Participants al so approved the preparation of atechnical
paper on the links between biological diversity and climate change,
and considered aproposal for aspecial report on climate change and
sustai nable devel opment.



Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 3

Tuesday, 2 October 2001

REPORT OF THE MEETING

IPCC Chair Robert Watson opened the eighteenth session of the
Panel (IPCC-18) on Monday morning, 24 September. Del egates
observed aminute of silence asamark of respect for the victims of the
recent terrorist attacksin the US.

UK Deputy Prime Minister John Prescott welcomed al partici-
pantsto the UK. Paying tribute to the |PCC, he stated that the Panel’s
hard work and analysis had hel ped to defeat the “flat-earthers’ who
denied the existence of human-induced climate change. He noted that
the adoption of the Kyoto Protocol to the UNFCCC had marked a
coming together of sound science and political will. He outlined the
UK climate change programme, which is expected to cut greenhouse
gas emissions by 23%, and emphasi zed the opportunitiesfor “gain not
pain” in climate policy through cost-effective measures and better
technology. He expressed hope that the “ Bonn Agreements,” recently
adopted at the resumed UNFCCC COP-6 held in Bonn from 16-27
July 2001, would pave theway for the entry into force of the Kyoto
Protocol by 2002. In conclusion, he underscored the important role
played by the IPCC in advancing the political processon climate
change.

WMO Secretary-General G.O.P. Obasi thanked the UK govern-
ment for hosting the meeting. Noting that the TAR is eagerly awaited,
he commended the IPCC for itswork, recalling the critical rolethat the
First and Second Assessment Reports had played in the negotiations
onthe UNFCCC and the Kyoto Protocol, respectively. Referringto the
IPCC'sfuture work and structure, he stressed that the Panel must be
“ruthlesdly factual,” work by consensus, and serve all governments.
Finally, he emphasized the need for strengthened climate observation
and drew attention to the Integrated Global Observing Strategy thatis
being developed by WM O and itsrel evant partners.

UNEP Assistant Executive Director Jorge Illueca, speaking on
behalf of UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer, congratul ated all
thoseinvolved in the preparation of the TAR. He noted that scientific
consensus on climate change has grown stronger, and that itsimpacts
arealready being felt around theworld. He highlighted UNEP'srolein
addressing climate change, notably in the areas of adaptation, renew-
able energy and public awareness, aswell asitswork on international
environmental governance.

DennisTirpak, Coordinator for Methods, Science and Technol ogy,
UNFCCC Secretariat, speaking on behalf of UNFCCC Executive
Secretary Michael Zammit Cutajar, expressed his appreciation for the
fresh material and new insights contained in the TAR. He underlined
theimportance of UNFCCC COP-7, noting that decisions adopted at
that session will close one chapter of the climate change negotiations
and start opening anew one. He stated that akey question at UNFCCC
COP-7 with regard to the TAR will bethe use of itsinformation, and
put forward several specific operational, research and policy questions
to be considered. In conclusion, he remarked that time will be needed
to adequately reflect on theinformation presented inthe TAR and to
take decisions on subsequent actions.

Chair Watson thanked delegatesfor their commitment to the IPCC
and remarked that the Panel is entering thefinal phase of itswork on
the TAR. He stated that theissue now is not whether climate changeis
happening, but how much, where and when. He said that the IPCC has

helped shape policy and that all thoseinvolved inthe Panel should be
proud of their work in providing decision-makers with the best avail-
able evidenceto formulate cost-effective and equitable climate change
policies. He congratul ated governments on the constructive comments
received on the draft Synthesis Report and stated that he looked
forward to an early approval of the Report.

IPCC Secretary N. Sundararaman stressed the need for the IPCCto
uncompromisingly uphold its objectivity in order to remain useful. He
emphasized theimportance of aggressively increasing theinvolve-
ment of expertsfrom devel oping countries and countrieswith econo-
miesin transition, given that climate change affects different
communitiesin different ways.

Chair Watson then introduced the programme of work of the
session. Hestated that the main task for the Panel wasto approve/adopt
the draft Synthesis Report of the TAR, including the SPM and the
underlying longer part. He noted that anumber of “management deci-
sions’ were a so on the agenda. Del egates agreed on the organization
of work for the session.

Editor'sNote: Asa matter of policy, the Earth NegotiationsBulletin
does not directly attribute statements made by governmentswhen
requested to do so.

APPROVAL/ADOPTION OF THE DRAFT SYNTHESISREPORT

On Monday, 24 September, Chair Watson introduced the SPM of
the Synthesis Report and the underlying draft longer part. He reported
that approximately 50 lead authors, aswell asreview editorsfrom the
Bureau, had considered comments submitted by governments, NGOs
and expertsover the past week to preparearevised draft of the SPM for
thismeeting.

Noting that some comments had called for greater focus on uncer-
tainties and beneficial effects of climate change while others had
sought more emphasis on adverse impacts, Chair Watson underscored
the need for abalanced document.

Concerning the organization of work, Watson said that the Plenary
would first consider and approve the SPM line-by-line and that the
lead authors, working with the review editors, would then revise the
underlying longer part to ensureitsfull consistency with the approved
SPM. He stated that the revised underlying longer part would then be
considered and adopted paragraph-by-paragraph by the Plenary to
ensure consistency intone, message and structure with the SPM and all
underlying documents on which it isbased.

APPROVAL OF THE SUMMARY FOR POLICY-MAKERS
OF THE SYNTHESISREPORT: Delegates considered the SPM of
the Synthesis Report throughout the week. Many editorial, technical
and substantive changes were proposed. Where appropriate, thelead
authors responded to proposed changes and clarified issues. Views
often differed on how the findings of the working groups should be
synthesized, interpreted and reflected, and on how to ensure consis-
tency between theworking group and Synthesis Report SPMs. Opin-
ions also differed on the messagesthat should be conveyed to policy-
makers. Throughout the discussion, Chair Watson urged del egates not
to alter text taken directly from the approved working group SPMsand
to refrain from adding more detailed text. The approval of the SPM
was completed on Saturday, 29 September.



Tuesday, 2 October 2001

Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 4

The report below highlights some of the key issues discussed on
each of the nine policy-relevant questions.

Question 1: This question addressed the contribution of scientific,
technical and socioeconomic analysesto the determination of what
constitutes dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate
system, asreferredtoin UNFCCC Article 2.

Viewsdiffered over whether and how to reflect uncertainty in
defining what constitutes* dangerous anthropogenic interference with
theclimate system.” Viewsalso differed over whether to refer to “ miti-
gative capacity” asone of the factors determining what constitutes
such “dangerous anthropogenic interference.” Some participants
expressed concern over including thisreference, questioning its
meaning and logic. Del egates acknowledged the intellectual
complexity of theissue but agreed to include the reference.

Some participants expressed concern over lack of substanceinthe
answer to Question 1 and proposed to include afigure showing that
stabilization of CO, concentrationswould reduce the risks of climate
change damages. Others opposed this proposal. Chair Watson recalled
that Question 1 had been designed to provide aframework for reflec-
tion on dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system,
and not to present specificinformation, sincedoing sowould resultina
“laundry list” of information and pre-empt the other questions. Dele-
gates agreed not to include thefigure.

Approved Answer: The approved answer states that natural, tech-
nical and social sciences can provide essential information and
evidence needed for decision-making on what constitutes“ dangerous
anthropogenic interference with the climate system.” At the same
time, such decisions are val ue judgments determined through socio-
political processes, taking into account considerations such asdevel -
opment, equity, and sustainability, aswell as uncertainties and risk.
The answer al so statesthat the basisfor determining what constitutes
“dangerous anthropogenic interference” will vary among regionsand
depends upon mitigative capacity, since the magnitude and the rate of
changearebothimportant. It also notesthat the TAR assessesavailable
information on the timing, opportunities, costs, benefits, and impacts
of various mitigation and adaptation options.

Question 2: This question addressed the evidence for, and causes
and consequences of, changesin the Earth’s climate since the pre-
industrial era.

Viewsdiffered over whether to include additional proposed text
highlighting differences between satellite and surface temperature
measurements. Chair Watson formed a contact group to consider the
issue. Delegates eventually agreed to the Chair’s proposal toincludea
sentence stating that temperature changes have not been uniform
globally, but have varied over regions and different parts of the lower
atmosphere.

Delegates al so debated proposed amendmentsto the sentence
“thereisnew and stronger evidence that most of the warming observed
over thelast 50 yearsisattributableto human activities.” Chair Watson
guarded against altering this “take home message” from the Working
Group | SPM, and the sentence was approved without change.

Other issues debated by participantsincluded thelist of observed
changesto climate and biophysical systemsin the 20th century.

Approved Answer: The approved answer statesthat the Earth's
climate system has demonstrably changed on both global and regional
scalessincethe pre-industrial era, with some of these changes attribut-
ableto human activities. It explainsthat, globally, it isvery likely that
the 1990s was the warmest decade, and 1998 thewarmest year, inthe
instrumental record (1861-2000). The answer notesthat changesin sea
level, snow cover, ice extent and precipitation are consistent with
warming near the Earth’s surface, providing examples and noting
uncertainties. It states that observed regional climate changes have
already affected hydrological systemsand terrestrial and marine
ecosystems, and socioeconomic vulnerability to climate change
appearsto berising. A table provides examples of observed changes
during the 20th century in the atmosphere, climate and biophysical
system.

Question 3: Thisquestion addressed the regional and global
climatic, environmental, and socioeconomic consegquencesin the next
25, 50 and 100 years associ ated with arange of greenhouse gasemis-
sionsarising from scenariosused inthe TAR.

Regarding human health, several del egates noted the exi stence of
positive effects of climate change on human health and the small
number of studies on vector-borne diseases.

Concerning crop yields, del egates debated whether referenceto the
level of warming projected to increase food pricesglobally should be
quantified more precisely than “afew degrees Celsius.” Several non-
Anglophone del egates noted problemsin the translation of theterm “a
few.” Agreement was reached not to quantify the degree of warming,
but to spell out the English term “afew” in the translated documents.

On water resources, some del egates noted that factors other than
climate change contribute to water shortage in many water-scarce
areas of theworld and proposed to spell out these factors. Others
expressed concern at shifting the focus away from climate change.
Agreement was reached to identify those additional factors contrib-
uting to water shortage.

Concerning the severe social and economic effectsfaced in partic-
ular by populationsthat inhabit small islands and/or low lying coastal
areas, several delegations proposed, and the Plenary accepted, to refer-
ence additional areas of concern, such asthe loss of beaches, coastal
erosion and storm surges. One participant noted that the impacts of
climate change are already being feltin small idand States.

Other issues debated by delegates included: the extent to which
adaptation can reduce the adverse effects of climate change; and the
estimated aggregated market sector effects measured as changesin
GDP of climate change on developing and devel oped countries.

Approved Answer: The approved answer to this question states
that emission scenarios proj ect the following characteristics for 2100:
CO, concentrations of 540-970 ppm; anincreasein globally averaged
surface temperature of 1.4-5.8°C; and anincreasein sealevel of 0.09-
0.88 m. The answer saysthat projected climate change will have bene-
ficial and adverse environmental and socioeconomic effects, but the
larger the changes and rate of changein climate, the more the adverse
effects predominate. It explainsin moredetail projected climate
changeimpacts on: human health; ecological productivity and biodi-
versity; agriculture; water; small islands and low-lying coasts; and
changesin GDP. Theanswer also discussesthe potential for adaptation



Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 5

Tuesday, 2 October 2001

to reduce adverse effects of climate change and to produce immediate
ancillary benefits, but not to prevent all damages. Several figuresare
included to illustrate the answer, including: socioeconomic, emissions
and greenhouse gas concentration scenarios; temperature and sea-level
change; and changesin annual run-off.

Question 4: Thisquestion addressed climate fluctuations, extreme
events and the risk of abrupt/non-linear changes.

Views differed over how to characterize the nature, degreeand
likelihood of abrupt/non-linear changesin physical systemsresulting
from climate change, and the extent to which these may beirreversible.
Given thevarying terminology used in the different working groups,
delegates had difficulty merging material from the SPMs of Working
Groupsl and I1. A contact group was formed to consider thisissue.

On examples of projected abrupt/non-linear changes, participants
discussed theimplication of local warming over Greenland on global
sea-level rise. Agreement was reached on a sentence stating that “ice
sheet models project that alocal warming of larger than 3°C, if
sustained for millennia, would lead to virtually a complete melting of
the Greenland ice sheet with aresulting sea-level rise of about 7m.”
Delegates al so agreed to strengthen areference to the effects of perma-
frost melting to say that landdlideswill affect water coursesand
wetland ecosystems, aswell asinfrastructure.

Approved Answer: Theapproved answer statesthat models project
anincreasein daily, seasonal, inter-annual and decadal climate vari-
ability, aswell aschangesin frequency, intensity, and duration of
extreme climate events. It al so statesthat greenhouse gasforcinginthe
21st century could set in motion abrupt/non-linear changesin physical
and biological systemsover the coming decadesto millennia, with a
widerange of associated likelihoods. Further, the answer stipul ates
that some of the projected changesin physical systemsandin the
natural sources and sinks of greenhouse gases could beirreversible,
but thereis an incompl ete understanding of some of the underlying
processes. Changesin climate could increase therisk of such changes
in many ecosystems. A table gives examples of climate variability and
extreme climate events, and examples of their impacts.

Question 5: Thisquestion addressed inertiaand time-scal es asso-
ciated with changesin the climate system, ecological systems, and
socioeconomic sectors and their interactions.

Ontheinertiaof the climate system, some participants noted the
need to consider greenhouse gases other than CO,, particularly short-
lived gases, and the text was amended to reflect this point. In response
to queriesfrom two del egations, Chair Watson confirmed asfactual the
statement that stabilization of CO, emissionsat near-current levelswill
never lead to stabilization of CO, atmospheric concentrations.

Concerning inertiain socioeconomic systems, participants debated
the costs of changing socioeconomic systemsto address climate
change, and how such costs vary depending on the necessary speed of
response, the availability of technology and the depreciation of capital
stock. Some del egates stated that changes to soci oeconomic systems
are possible at no net cost, even when responding under pressure, but
othersdisagreed. Del egates approved a sentence noting that costs of
change are higher when soci oeconomi ¢ systems must respond quickly,
but lower when thereistimeto respond.

Onthe policy implications of inertia, delegates discussed differ-
encesintheimplications of inertiafor mitigation and adaptation, and
whether adaptati on should be characterized asinvolving mainly local/
regional actions and mitigation asinvolving coordinated global
actions. Some del egations argued that adaptati on can be addressed at a
global level, while mitigation also involveslocal level action. Chair
Watson formed a contact group to seek acompromise solution. The
group reached agreement on atext, later approved by Plenary, which
statesthat inertia has different consequences for adaptation than for
mitigation and that adaptation is primarily oriented to address|ocal-
ized impacts of climate change, while mitigation aimsto addressthe
impacts on the climate system.

Approved Answer: Theapproved answer to thisquestion notesthat
inertiaisawidespread and inherent characteristic of the interacting
climate, ecological and socioeconomic systems, and thus some
impacts of climate change may be slow to become apparent and could
beirreversibleif thresholds are crossed. The answer explainsthe
nature of inertiain climate systems, ecological systemsand socioeco-
nomic systems, aswell asits policy implications. Among other find-
ings, the answer reportsthat: surface air temperature and sealevels
will continueto rise after stabilization of greenhouse gas concentra-
tions; inertiamakes adaptation inevitable and already necessary in
some cases; and anticipatory adaptation and mitigation actions are
beneficial, given inertiain the climate system and the possibility of
irreversibility. The answer includes a graph showing how CO, concen-
trations, temperature and sealevels continue to riselong after emis-
sionsare reduced.

Question 6: This question assessestheimplications of stabilizing
concentrations of greenhouse gases at arange of levelsfor the climate,
ecological systemsand socioeconomic sectors.

Concerning the stabilization of atmospheric CO, concentrations,
delegates considered aproposal to make explicit referenceto the cost
of greenhouse gas mitigation. They agreed to include asentence
stating that mitigation actionsto stabilize atmospheric greenhouse gas
concentrations at lower levelswoul d generate greater benefitsinterms
of lessdamage. Throughout debates on Question 6, delegates consid-
ered whether or not continuous reference should be made to the cost of
miti gation action when addressing itsbenefits. Chair Watson reminded
delegatesthat Question 7 deal swith mitigation action costs, and stated
that continuous reference to cost in Question 6 would necessitate
similar reference to the benefits of mitigation actionsin Question 7.
Participants agreed to keep the two questions separate, with only
minimal referenceto other questions.

Delegates discussed whether reference should be madeto the
timing of global emissionspeaksfor specific stabilizationlevels. Some
delegates stressed the importance of such areferencein conveying a
clear message to policy-makers, but others disagreed. A sentence
referring to two outer stabilization level s (450 ppm and 1000 ppm) and
the timings of their respective emission peakswas eventually adopted.

In estimating global mean temperature increase at specified levels
of atmospheric CO, concentration stabilization, del egates agreed to
refer to assumptions made about emissions of non-CO, greenhouse
gases and aerosols. Further, delegates requested the lead authorsto



Tuesday, 2 October 2001

Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 6

calculate the contribution of non-greenhouse gases and aerosolsto
equilibrium warming. Appropriate text on this matter was adopted
later in the week.

Delegations considered whether to keep or amend a statement
noting that all of the CO, stabilization profiles analyzed would avoid
much of the upper end of the projected warming of 1.4-5.8°C by 2100.
Chair Watson established acontact group to discussthisissue. Further
matters on which agreement could not bereached in Plenary and which
werereferred to the contact group included: an appropriate way of
referencing the amount of estimated sea-level risefor specified
increasesin CO, concentration; reference to non-CO, greenhouse
gasesin contributing to sea-level rise; and reference to the reduction of
inequity through adaptati on and mitigation actions. After some debate,
wording devised in the contact group was agreed on for all issues.

Approved Answer: The approved answer statesthat projected
warming and sea-level risewill be smaller, the greater the emissions
reductions and the earlier they are introduced. Sealevel and ice sheets
would continueto respond to warming for many centuries after green-
house gas concentrations have been stabilized. A wide band of uncer-
tainty existsin the amount of warming that would result from any
stabilized greenhouse gas concentration. The answer further notes that
reducing emissions of greenhouse gasesto stabilize their atmospheric
concentration would delay and reduce damages caused by climate
change, and that adaptation is anecessary strategy at all scalesto
complement climate change mitigation efforts.

Question 7: This question examineswhat is known about the
potential for, costs and benefits of, and time framefor, reducing green-
house gasemissions.

Onforests, agricultural lands, and other terrestrial ecosystemsthat
offer significant carbon mitigation potential, several delegations noted
theimportance of spelling out the strategies by which biological miti-
gation can occur, namely: conservation of existing carbon pools;
sequestration by increasing the size of carbon pools; and substitution
of sustainably produced biological products. Wording to this effect
was adopted.

Delegates debated whether to include afootnote stating that, in the
hypothetical situation that all of the carbon released by historical land-
use changes could berestored to theterrestrial biosphere over the
course of acentury, atmospheric CO, concentrations could potentially
be reduced by no morethan 40 to 70 ppm. The matter wasreferredto a
contact group and the footnote was later approved with minor textual
changes.

In response to queries from del egates over the cost estimates for
Kyoto Pratocol Annex B (devel oped) countriesto implement the
Kyoto Protocol, the lead authors confirmed that the figures provided
were up-to-date.

Viewsdiffered over how to reflect uncertaintiesin the “ spillover”
effect of climate change mitigation policiesimplemented by UNFCCC
Annex | (devel oped) countrieson non-Annex | (developing) countries.
One participant noted the need for balance between the treatment of
uncertaintiesin “ spillover” effects on developing countriesand in miti-
gation costsin Annex | countries. Chair Watson formed acontact
group to draft compromise text.

Viewsalso differed over a statement averaging out the long-term
costs of mitigating climate change over 100 years. Some participants
claimed that afocus on long-term average costsis misleading and
downplays short-term transition costs. Othersargued that it places
mitigation costsin context and demonstrates theimportance of gradual
mitigation action. Chair Watson convened a contact group to further
discusstheissue.

Discussion also took place over thefiguresto beincluded toillus-
trate the answer, and the message that these would send to policy-
makers. Several del egates expressed concern at agraphillustrating the
estimated costs from different economic models of stabilizing CO,
concentrations at various levels, arguing that it exaggerates costs and
couldimply that it is cheaper to delay mitigation action. After consid-
eration in acontact group, del egates agreed to delete the figure from
the SPM, but to retain it in the underlying report. After some debate,
delegates agreed to include a graph illustrating projected global
average GDP reduction in 2050 due to climate change mitigation
action according to various scenarios, but to indicatein thefigure
caption that the data does not take into account the benefits of avoided
climate change.

Approved Answer: The approved answer to this question states
that there are many opportunitiesto reduce near-term emissions and
that technical progressin thisregard has been faster than anticipated,
but barriers exist to the deployment of these opportunities. The answer
explainsreasons behind the varying mitigation cost estimates of
different model s and studies, and notes substantial opportunitiesfor
lowering costs, for example, through use of carbon sinksand emis-
sionstrading. The answer discussesthewell-established, albeit varied,
“spillover” effects on non-Annex | countries of emission constraints
on Annex | countries. It explains how technology development and
diffusion areimportant components of cost-effective stabilization, and
how the pathway to meeting a particular stabilization target will have
an impact on mitigation cost.

Question 8: This question discusses the interactions between
climate change, other environmental issues and sustai nable devel op-
ment.

Concerning synergies and trade-offsin climate change response
options, del egates di scussed various means of reducing greenhouse
gasemissions, including aproposal to refer to increasing the use of
advanced fossil fuel technologies, rather than the substitution of fossil
fuel combustion by renewable energy. Chair Watson convened a
contact group on the proposal. The contact group agreed to refer to
increasing the share of lower carbon emitting fossil fuels, advanced
fossil fuel technologies and renewabl e energy technologies.

On linkages between multilateral environmental agreements,
participants discussed how to characterize theinteraction between
multilateral agreementson ozone and climate change. Several dele-
gates proposed, and the Plenary agreed, to note potential contradic-
tions between the agreements, whereby substancesthat are
replacementsfor ozone-depl eting substances are greenhouse gases.

Approved Answer: Theapproved answer to thisquestion notesthat
local, regional and global environmental issues are inextricably linked
and affect sustainable devel opment, and that synergistic opportunities
exist to devel op more effective response options that enhance benefits,



Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 7

Tuesday, 2 October 2001

reduce costs, and meet human needs more sustainably. The answer
explains how meeting human needs, in many instances, causes envi-
ronmental degradation, which in turn threatens the ability to meet
present and future needs. The answer al so discusses linkages between
climate change and other environmental issues, such asbiodiversity
loss, desertification and stratospheric 0zone depl etion, pointing to
synergies and trade-offs.

Question 9: Thisquestion callsfor asummary of the most robust
findings and uncertainties.

Delegates debated the definition of “robust finding,” noting that
thetermisused for thefirst timein the Synthesis Report, and agreed
some minor changesto it.

During discussions on atable listing the most robust findings and
associated key uncertainties, several delegates proposed to add robust
findingsincluding: the existence of long lived gases; the likelihood of
more heat/cold waves and very hot/cold days; and the scale of emis-
sionsreductions required from 1990 level sto achieve different CO,
concentration stabilizations. Several delegates also proposed to add
key uncertainties, including the probability distribution associated
with temperature and sea-level projections and issuesrelated to large-
scale abrupt/non-linear changes.

Concerning robust findings on climate change impacts, there were
proposalsfor greater emphasis on both positive and negativeimpacts.
Emphasi zing the need for balance, Chair Watson underscored that
most peoplewill be adversely affected by, rather than benefit from,
climate change, and that thelist should focus on large-scaleimpacts.

On request of the Chair, thelead authors presented arevised list.
After clarifying the confidencelevel underlying some of itsitems,
delegates adopted therevised list.

Several different proposalswere put forward for additionsto the
list of robust findings on adaptation and mitigation options. Chair
Watson requested a contact group, including the lead authors, to
preparearevised list that would ensure balance. When later presenting
therevised list to Plenary, he noted that several hourshad goneintoiits
preparation and urged del egatesto accept it without change. Delegates
approved therevised list.

Approved Answer: The approved answer to this question definesa
“robust finding” asonethat holds under avariety of approaches,
methods, models and assumptions and onethat is expected to berela-
tively unaffected by uncertainties. It defines“key uncertainties’ as
thosethat, if reduced, may lead to new and robust findings. A table
lists examples of robust findings and key uncertainties. The answer
aso listsimportant areas where further work isrequired. A graphiillus-
trates past and future CO, atmospheric concentrations.

ADOPTION OF THE UNDERLYING LONGER PART OF
THE SYNTHESISREPORT: Delegates considered the underlying
longer part of the Synthesis Report on the final two days of the session.
The adopted longer part expands on the SPM, providing further detail,
additional data, and more examples and figuresto answer the nine
policy-relevant questions. Introducing the document, Chair Watson
noted that it had been revised during the week to ensure consistency
with the approved SPM and to take government commentsinto
account. Participants considered and adopted the underlying longer

part paragraph-by-paragraph, anew procedurefor the IPCC. A
number of amendmentswere proposed and adopted, mostly correcting
errors and reconciling the text with the SPM.

FUTURE OF THE IPCC

Participants discussed the future of the IPCC throughout the week.
Chair Watson drew the attention of del egatesto recommended deci-
sionson thisissue, which had been revised following consideration at
IPCC-17 and additional comments from governments. Before consid-
ering the decisions, Chair Watson rai sed the overall issue of the contin-
uation of the IPCC. Herecalled the unanimous agreement expressed at
IPCC-17 that the Panel should continue itswork, and reported that
both IPCC'’ s parent organizations, WM O and UNEP, had now formally
endorsed the agreement to continue. Chair Watson stated that no
further decision on this particul ar issue was therefore necessary.
Participants then discussed eleven decisions pertaining to the future
work of the |PCC.

Decision 1: Under this decision, delegates agreed that the IPCC
should continue to prepare comprehensive assessments, including an
underlying report, SPM and Technical Summary from each working
group. The decision also recommends that the IPCC Bureau examine
thefeasibility of: shortening the underlying reports and increasing
their focus on new findings; and shortening the SPMsaswell as
making them more comprehensible to policymakers.

Decision 2; Thisdecision concernsthetiming of the Fourth
Assessment Report. Some del egates call ed for the Fourth Assessment
Report to be completed by 2006, emphasizing the needs of policy-
makersfor updated information and noting that negotiations on second
period commitments under the UNFCCC are dueto start by 2005.
Others proposed alater date, noting that scientists must not be over-
loaded, and that new scientific findings must be available before anew
assessment is prepared. Several participants proposed to defer adeci-
sion, stating that the IPCC needsto first consider its overall work
programme and consult the UNFCCC Subsidiary Body for Scientific
and Technological Advice (SBSTA) on itsrequirements. Delegates
decided to invitethe current IPCC Bureau to consult with the expert
community and the SBSTA asan input for further consideration of this
issue at IPCC-19.

Decision 3:; Thisdecision considerswhether Working Group 1,
which assesses past and future climate change, should produceits
report before Working Group 11, which assessesimpacts, adaptation
and vulnerability. Several participants noted the link between this deci-
sion and the timing of the Fourth Assessment Report. Chair Watson
proposed to invite the current Bureau to consult with Working Group
Co-Chairsand lead authors on their experiencein preparing the TAR,
asaninput for further consideration of thisissue at IPCC-19. After
some debate, del egates agreed to this proposal .

Decision 4: Delegates approved this decision, which: endorsesthe
preparation of Special Reports; requeststhe Bureau to develop a
framework and set of criteriafor establishing prioritiesto be approved
by the IPCC Plenary; and statesthat the preparation of Special Reports
will be considered on a case-by-case basis.



Tuesday, 2 October 2001

Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 8

Decision 5: Delegates approved thisdecision, which statesthat the
IPCC will: consider requestsfor technical papers, special reportsor
methodol ogical work received from the UNFCCC; and take decisions
on acase-by-casebasis, using the priority framework and criteria
developed under Decision 4.

Decision 6: Thisdecision addresses whether the IPCC should be
responsive to requests from other conventions and organizationsto
prepare reports.

Several delegates expressed caution, noting resource implications
and emphasi zing that requests from other bodies should be considered
according to the priority framework developed under Decision 4. One
participant stated that the UNFCCC should be consulted on therele-
vance of any requestsreceived to climate change. Delegates approved
adecision stating that the IPCC will consider requestsfor Technical
Papers, Special Reports or methodol ogical work received from other
bodies, and will take decisions on acase-by-case basis, using the
priority framework and criteriadevel oped under Decision 4. Delegates
also agreed that the Panel should provide specific guidance to the new
Bureau on issues that need to be considered in the formulation of the
priority framework and criteriaunder Decision 4.

Decision 7: Thisdecision concerns possible changes to the prepa-
ration, peer review and acceptance/approval proceduresfor Special
Reports. Del egates decided to make no change to existing procedures
for thetime being, and approved adecision to that effect.

Decision 8: Thisdecision concernsthe appropriate working group
structure of the IPCC. Chair Watson noted that there appeared to be
consensus to maintain the current three working groups, while recog-
ni zing the need to: enhance coordination between the working groups;
improve the consideration of overlapping and cross-cutting issues,
improve the treatment of economic aspectsin Working Groups| and
I1; and strengthen the treatment of technical aspectsin Working Group
II.

In the ensuing discussion, all delegates expressed support for main-
taining the three working groups. Several participantscalled for the
establishment of anew body to address devel oping country participa-
tion and others suggested that a Bureau member be charged with
working on thisissue. One participant called for greater cooperation
with scientific bodies of other conventions.

Discussion also took place on the degree of oversight that the
Plenary should exert over theworking groups’ plansto address over-
lapping issues. Several delegates stated that the Plenary should not
“micromanage” the working groups and guarded against excessive
bureaucracy. Several delegates underscored the importance of not
going against the IPCC’s agreed principles and procedures.

Delegates agreed to endorse the continuation of the current
working group structure. Chair Watson clarified that the plans of the
working groupsto deal with cross-cutting issues would be considered
by the Plenary as part of broader discussions on the working groups
work programmes at afuture session.

Decision 9: Delegates agreed to address this decision, onthe
management of special reports, at IPCC-19.

Decision 10: Thisdecision addresses the question of whether the
Task Force on Inventories (TFI) should remain atask force or become
afourth working group. There was broad agreement on the Chair’s

recommendation that the TFl remain atask force. Participants also
discussed the composition of the TFI Bureau and itslinksto the IPCC
Bureau. Del egates agreed that the TFI Bureau will be composed of two
Co-Chairs (one from adevel oped and one from adevel oping country),
who are members of the |PCC Bureau and of twelve additiona TFI
Bureau members. Theimportance of ensuring the technical expertise
of Bureau members was emphasi zed.

Decision 11: Thisdecision addressesthe appropriate size, structure
and geographical representation of the |PCC Bureau.

One delegate proposed to increase the membership of the Bureau
to 50 or more, pointing to the greater decision-making responsibilities
placed onit, given that Plenary sessions are now held lessfrequently.
Chair Watson, supported by several delegates, noted that thereal issue
of concernisnot the size of the Bureau, but its mandate and the fact
that some members do not participate actively initswork and therefore
do not fully represent their regions.

Chair Watson proposed to maintain the current Bureau structure,
suggesting that procedures be considered at afuture session to enable
regional groupsto replace Bureau memberswho fail to participate
actively and urged regional groupsto select representatives who will
truly represent their regions. Del egates agreed to the Chair’s proposal.
The Bureau will keep its 30 memberswith the current geographic
balance, including aChair, three Vice-Chairs with specific responsibil -
ities, the two Co-Chairsand six Bureau members of each working
group, and thetwo Co-Chairsof the TFI.

PREPARATORY WORK ON LAND USE, LAND-USE CHANGE
AND FORESTRY

Delegates considered thisissue on Wednesday, 26 September, and
Friday, 28 September. On Wednesday, Chair Watson explained that a
draft decision on land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF)
prepared at the resumed UNFCCC COP-6 had requested the | PCC to:
elaborate guidelines and prepare areport on good practice guidance;
develop definitions for degradation and devegetation; and develop
practicable methodol ogiesto factor out direct human-induced changes
in carbon stocks, emissionsand removals. He further explained that
the SBSTA islikely to request the IPCC to assist it with additional
work on biome-specific forest definitions and onissuesrelating to
afforestation and reforestati on activities under the Clean Development
Mechanism. He noted, however, that these tasks still need to be
formally endorsed by UNFCCC COP-7. Chair Watson invited dele-
gatesto consider and approve aproposed work programmeto carry out
the tasks prepared by the TFI Bureau.

One participant stated that the Plenary should consider all tasks
reguested of the IPCC by the resumed UNFCCC COP-6, not just those
relating to LULUCF. Dennis Tirpak, representing the UNFCCC Secre-
tariat, together with Chair Watson, clarified that the request to elabo-
rate guidelines/good practice guidance for the LUL UCF sector did not
only comefrom the resumed UNFCCC COP-6, but had been requested
previously by SBSTA and discussed at IPCC-17.

Based on this clarification, Chair Watson invited participantsto
focusfirst on theindividual proposed work programme for guidelines/
good practice guidance. Many del egations emphasi zed theimportance
of approving thiswork programme. A number of specificissueswere
raised, including: the need to address remote sensing methodol ogies



Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 9

Tuesday, 2 October 2001

and cross-cutting issues; theimportance of balanced geographic repre-
sentation among authors; and linkswith the preparation of national
communications under the UNFCCC, especially in devel oping coun-
trieswherethereisaneed to improve data preparation methods and
emission factors. Del egates approved the work programme.

On definitionsfor degradation and devegetation, Chair Watson
invited delegatesto discuss and approve the work programmein prin-
ciple, subject to alater discussion onits priority in the context of
overall requests endorsed by UNFCCC COP-7. Several delegatesand
the TFI Co-Chairs expressed concern at the lack of clarity inthe
reguest to the IPCC, urging that further guidance be sought from the
UNFCCC SBSTA and UNFCCC COP-7 on the exact nature of the
task. Chair Watson proposed to invite the TFl Bureau to continue the
scoping of itswork programme, and submit more detailed terms of
referenceto |PCC-19, based on further guidance obtained at COP-7.
Delegates agreed with the Chair’s proposal.

On Friday, delegates continued their consideration of tasks under
the proposed work programme. On the factoring out of direct human-
induced changes, several delegates stated that the proposed work
programme did not adequately reflect: the complexity of theissue; the
need for new advancesin science; and the importance of involving
Working Groups | and I1. Several participantsrecalled that UNFCCC
COP-7 has not yet formally approved this request and that the COP
may make other requests.

Delegates approved a decision requesting the working groups and
TFI Bureau to produce scoping papers, for consideration at IPCC-19,
onany activitiesthat UNFCCC COP-7 may request, including on the
factoring out of direct human-induced changes and other LULUCF
i SSues.

PREPARATION OF A TECHNICAL PAPER ON CLIMATE
CHANGE AND BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY

Delegates considered thisissue on Wednesday, 26 September.
Chair Watson recalled that IPCC-17 had approved the preparation of a
technical paper on climate change and biological diversity, as
requested by the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). Habiba
Gitay, convening lead author, introduced the scoping paper for the
Technical Paper. She explained that the technical paper would only
draw on existing IPCC material, and noted that, in responseto a
reguest from the SBSTA, it would also look at links between climate
change and desertification. She emphasized that the report would be
written by members of the CBD roster of expertsin conjunction with
IPCC authorsin order to ensure coordination.

Widespread support was expressed for the scoping paper. Some
delegates sought clarification on its approach and content, and others
suggested specific topics that should be fully covered, including:
mountain area biodiversity; adaptation; and biodiversity in countries
particularly vulnerableto climate change and to climate change miti-
gation action listed in UNFCCC Article 4.8. Onerepresentative
expressed concern that the focus on biodiversity should not lead to a
neglect of desertification.

In summarizing the discussion, Chair Watson encouraged devel -
oping countries to nominate authorsfor the paper to ensure that i ssues
of specific concernto them will be adequately addressed. Delegates
approved the scoping paper.

PREPARATION OF A SPECIAL REPORT ON CLIMATE
CHANGE AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

On Wednesday, 26 September, Chair Watson introduced a scoping
paper for aproposed special report on climate change and sustainable
development. Mohan Munasinghe, Vice-Chair of Working Group 11,
explained that the aim of the proposed special report wasto examine
theimplications of climate change and response optionsfor the
sustainability of future devel opment, aswell asthe implications of
development strategiesfor climate change and response options. He
noted that thisfocus on sustainable devel opment was part of the
“unfinished business’ of the TAR. Emphasizing links with the 2002
World Summit for Sustainable Development (WSSD), he underscored
that the report would have a practical approach and would avoid
“philosophical” issues.

In the ensuing discussion, all delegates acknowledged thelink
between climate change and sustai nable development. Many
supported the preparation of aspecial report and called for work to
start immediately, noting that thiswould enable better coverage of
sustai nable devel opment i ssuesin the Fourth Assessment Report.
Some participants call ed for caution, emphasizing that the report had
to befocused, relevant and provide added value. Expressing concern
over the scope and process of the proposed special report, adelegate
proposed an alternative “ phased approach” that would begin with the
preparation of atechnical paper based on existing |PCC material.
Chair Watson called for a show of hands on whether del egates favored
aspecial report or the alternative phased approach. Noting roughly
equal support for both options, he encouraged delegatesto consult
informally on theissue.

On Saturday, 29 September, delegates considered an outlinefor a
technical paper on climate change and sustainable devel opment,
prepared by aninformal group asafirst step in apossible phased
approach to theissue. Several participants expressed support for a
technical paper, although some cautioned that formal approval of its
preparation should await amore detail ed scoping paper. Delegates
approved the preparation of atechnical paper in principle, with a deci-
sionto be taken by the IPCC Bureau at its next meeting, based on a
more detail ed scoping paper and commentsto be submitted by govern-
ments.

OTHER ISSUES

PROGRAMME AND BUGET FOR 2002-2004: On Saturday,
29 September, Leo Meyer, Chair of the |PCC Financial Task Team,
introduced a draft decision on the |PCC Work Programme and Budget
for 2002-2004. He noted that 2002 would be aquiet year for the IPCC,
but that resource demands will increase thereafter as preparationsfor
the Fourth Assessment Report begin. He also noted that therewas a
substantial carry-over from 2001. Chair Watson proposed to add a
provision in the budget for the publication of the SynthesisReport asa
stand-alone document. Del egates accepted this proposal, and the
budget was approved.

IPCC COMMUNICATION STRATEGY: Delegates considered
the IPCC Communication strategy on Saturday, 29 September.
Rajendra Pachauri, IPCC Vice-Chair and Chair of the Ad Hoc Group
on the IPCC Communi cation Strategy, reported on: improvementsto
the IPCC web site; strategiesfor the distribution and dissemination of
IPCC reports; the development of a popular version of the TAR and



Tuesday, 2 October 2001

Vol. 12 No. 177 Page 10

Specia Reports by UNEP; outreach activities by Working Group I11;
and planned | PCC eventsat UNFCCC COP-7 and the WSSD. Healso
highlighted the importance of engaging more actively with the popular
mediaand translating | PCC material into non-UN languages.
Supported by Chair Watson and several delegates, Pachauri called for
asignificant increasein resources for the communication strategy.

TIMING OF THE ELECTION OF A NEW BUREAU: On
Friday, 28 September, Chair Watson reported a decision by the current
Bureau that the next Bureau should be el ected at IPCC-19in April
2002. Delegates endorsed thisdecision.

APPROVAL OF THE DRAFT REPORT OF THE SEVEN-
TEENTH SESSION: Thedraft report of the seventeenth session was
approved without comment.

OTHER MATTERS: Yuri Izrael, IPCC Vice-Chair, introduced a
proposal for an |PCC technical paper on levels of greenhouse gasesin
the atmosphere preventing dangerous anthropogenic interference with
the climate system. Chair Watson recalled that this proposal had been
presented to the IPCC Bureau, which had decided to request ascoping
paper for consideration at IPCC-19.

Delegates al so briefly considered prioritiesfor future work. Chair
Watson noted that an in-depth discussion onthisissuewill take place at
IPCC-19.

CLOSING PLENARY

Chair Watson expressed satisfaction at the successful approval/
adoption of the Synthesis Report. He said that, despite concerns that
the new paragraph-by-paragraph adoption processwould lead to
lengthy debate, this approach had worked well and had demonstrated
that the IPCC could evolveinitswork. Hethanked all participantsfor
their hard work, and stated that the constructive commentsreceived
from governments on the draft Synthesis Report had made an impor-
tant contribution to the success of the session. He paid tribute to the
dedication of IPCC Secretary Sundararaman, who isretiring at theend
of theyear.

Several other del egates expressed satisfaction at the success of the
session and echoed the tribute to Secretary Sundararaman.

Secretary Sundararaman thanked all delegatesfor their support,
recalling how the IPCC’swork had devel oped since 1988. He
expressed particular satisfaction at hisinvolvement in effortsto
increase the participation of devel oping countriesand underscored that
such efforts should continue.

Chair Watson declared the meeting closed at 9:45 pm.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR

CERI 2001 ENERGY ENVIRONMENT CONFERENCE:
This conference, entitled "Advancing Energy Efficiency,” will be held
on 17 October 2001, in Calgary, Canada. It will explore how energy
efficiency can encourage the implementation of new technologies,
reduce greenhouse gas and other emissions and reduce energy costs.
For moreinformation, contact the Canadian Energy Research I nstitute;
tel: +1-403-282-1231; fax: +1-403-289-2344 or 284-4181; e-mail:
cvelasquez@ceri.ca; http://www.ceri.ca/confer_env.htm#envi

INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM ON ARCTIC FEED-
BACKSTO GLOBAL CHANGE: Thissymposiumwill be held
from 25-27 October 2001, in Rovaniemi, Finland. It will featurea
summary of Global Climate Model resultsfor the Arctic, includingin
relation to the marine sector, terrestrial ecosystems, freshwater ecosys-
temsand icecaps/glaciers. For moreinformation, contact: Peter Kuhry;
tel: +358-16-341-2758; fax: +358-16- 341-2777 e-mail:
peter.kuhry@urova.fi; Internet: http://www.urova.fi/home/arktinen/
feedback.htm

SEVENTH CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIESTO THE UN
FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE:
COP-7 isscheduled to take place from 29 October - 9 November 2001,
in Marrakech, Morocco. For moreinformation, contact: the UNFCCC
Secretariat; tel: +49-228-815-1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-mail:
secretariat@unfccc.int; Internet: http://www.unfccc.int/

SOLARWORLD CONGRESSOF THE INTERNATIONAL
SOLAR ENERGY SOCIETY (I SES2001): Thiscongresswill be
held from 25 November —2 December 2001, in Adelaide, Australia.
Thetechnical programmewill cover all aspects of renewable energy
and energy sustainability. For moreinformation, contact: ISES 2001,
c/o Hartley Management Group Pty, Ltd.; tel: +61-8-8363-4399; fax:
+61-8-8363-4577; e-mail: ises2001@hartleymgt.com.au; Internet:
http://www.unisa.edu.au/i ses2001congress’home.html

ANNUAL CONGRESSOF THE SCIENCE CENTRE
NORTH RHINE-WESTPHALIA: Thiscongress, “ Sustai nability -
A new business area?" organized by the Wupperta Institutefor
Climate, Environment and Energy, will take place from 28-29
November 2001, in Wuppertal, Germany. For more information,
contact: WZN-Congress Secretariat 2001; tel: +49-202-2492-0; fax:
+49-202-2492-108; e-mail: monika.kieslich@wupperinst.org;
Internet: http://www.wupperinst.org

INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM ON THE MANAGE-
MENT AND TECHNOLOGY OF ENERGY AND ENVIRON-
MENT: Thismeeting will be held from 7-8 December 2001, in
Vancouver, Canada. It will seek to address energy, environmental
management and technol ogy issues. For more information, contact:
International Consortium for the Management and Technol ogy of
Energy, Environment and Ecology; fax: +1-714-898-8416; e-mail:
inquiries@iceee.org; Internet: http://www.iceee.org.

THIRD INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM ON NON-GREEN-
HOUSE GASES: SCIENTIFIC UNDERSTANDING, CONTROL
AND IMPLEMENTATION: Thissymposiumwill be held from 21-
23 January 2002, in Maastricht, the Netherlands. For more informa:
tion, contact the Symposium secretariat; tel: +31-73-621-5985; fax:
+31-73-621-6985; e-mail: vvm@wxs.nl; Internet: www.milieukun-
digen.nl

EARTH TECHNOL OGIESFORUM: Thisconference and
exhibition on global climate change and ozone protection technologies
and policieswill be held from 25-27 March 2002, in Washington, D.C.
The conference will discuss current technologies and effortsto bring
them into the marketplace. For moreinformation, contact the Earth
Technologies Forum: tel: +1-703-807-4052; e-mail: earth-
forum@al cal de-fay.com; Internet: http://www.earthforum.com



